
 
Agenda compiled by: 
Angela M Bloor 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
Tel: 0113 24 4754 
 

 
 

 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 

 

 

 

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on 

Thursday, 29th November, 2012 
at 1.30 pm 

 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
 

D Congreve 
(Chair) 
R Grahame 
M Harland 
C Macniven 
A McKenna 
E Taylor 
B Selby 
 

C Campbell 
 

J Procter 
G Wilkinson 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

   SITE VISIT LETTER 
 
 

 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25 of the Access to Information 
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and 
public will be excluded) 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting) 
 
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:- 

 
 

 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes) 
 
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY AND OTHER INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-18 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.  Also to declare 
any other significant interests which the Member 
wishes to declare in the public interest, in 
accordance with paragraphs 19-20 of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 
 

 

5     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES 
 
To approve the minutes of the North and East 
Plans Panel meeting held on 1st November 2012 
 
(minutes attached) 
 
 
 

3 - 8 

7   
 

Roundhay  APPLICATION 12/01597/FU - 11 OLD PARK 
ROAD GLEDHOW LS8 
 
To consider a report of the Chief Planning Officer 
on an application relating to alterations to existing 
unlawful residential annex 
 
(report attached) 
 
 
 

9 - 28 

8   
 

Alwoodley  APPLICATION 12/03841/FU - LAND ADJACENT 
7 BROOKSIDE ALWOODLEY LS17 
 
To consider a report of the Chief Planning Officer 
on an application for detached bungalow to side 
garden plot 
 
(report attached) 
 
 
 

29 - 
42 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

9   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Thursday 20th December 2012 at 1.30pm 
 
 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



www.leeds.gov.uk General enquiries : 0113 222 4444  
 
 

 Chief Executive’s Department 
 Governance Services 
 4th Floor West 
 Civic Hall 
 Leeds LS1 1UR 
 
 Contact:  Angela M Bloor 
 Tel: 0113  247 4754 
                                Fax: 0113 395 1599  
                                angela.bloor@leeds.gov.uk 

 Your reference:  
 Our reference:  n&e pp site visits
 Date 21st November  2012  
  
Dear Councillor 
 
SITE VISITS – NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL –   29TH NOVEMBER 2012 
 

Prior to the meeting of the North and East Plans Panel on Thursday 29th November 2012 the 
following site visits will take place: 
 
10.50am  Depart Civic Hall 
 
11.05am 
 
 
 

 
Roundhay 

 
11 Old Park Road Gledhow LS8 – alterations to existing unlawful 
residential annex – 12/01597/FU 

11.35am Alwoodley Land adjacent 7 Brookside Alwoodley LS17 – detached bungalow 
to side garden plot – 12/03841/FU 
 

12.00 
noon 
approx 

 Return to Civic Hall  

 
 
For those Members requiring transport, a minibus will leave the Civic Hall at 10.50am. 
Please notify David Newbury (Tel: 247 8056) if you wish to take advantage of this and meet 
in the Ante Chamber at 10.45am.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
Angela M Bloor 
Governance Officer 

To all Members of North and East 
Plans Panel 

Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 29th November, 2012 

 

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL 
 

THURSDAY, 1ST NOVEMBER, 2012 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor D Congreve in the Chair 

 Councillors C Campbell, R Grahame, 
M Harland, C Macniven, J Procter, 
E Taylor, G Wilkinson, B Selby and 
J Harper 

 
 
 

10 Chair's opening remarks  
 

 The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and asked Members and 
Officers to introduce themselves 
 
 

11 Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary and other Interests  
 

 There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
interests 

In respect of application 12/03300/ADV – Churchfields, High Street 
Boston Spa - Councillor Wilkinson stated that he had commented on the 
application before he became a Member of North and East Plans Panel and 
having discussed this with the Panel’s Legal Adviser was informed that he 
could participate in considering this application (minute 17 refers) 
 
 

12 Apologies for Absence  
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A McKenna who 
was substituted for by Councillor J Harper 
 
 

13 Minutes  
 

 RESOLVED -  That the minutes of the North and East Plans Panel 
meeting held on 4th October 2012 be approved 
 
 

14 Application 09/04018/FU -Engineering works to form flood storage area -  
Land off First Avenue Bardsey LS17 9BE  

 
 Plans and photographs were displayed at the meeting.   A Members 
site visit had taken place earlier in the day 
 The Panel’s Lead Officer provided a brief history of the site, for 
Members’ information 

Agenda Item 6

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 29th November, 2012 

 

 The Panel was informed that outline planning permission was granted 
in 1997 for the erection of 6 houses.   The Reserved Matters application was 
however refused on issues relating to design and that the scheme did not take 
flooding into account.   The applicant lodged an appeal and planning 
permission was subsequently granted by the Inspector .   A S106 agreement 
was entered into which stated that provision would be made to address the 
flooding before commencement of the development, with this being accepted 
by the Inspector 
 In 2006, a flood compensation scheme was submitted which the 
Environment Agency (EA) in January 2007, did not object to.   In July 2007, a 
severe flooding event occurred which resulted in the EA revising their 
position, stating that the proposed scheme was not fit for purpose.   Since that 
time until recently, the EA’s concerns were maintained and discussions to 
resolve the situation had been ongoing 
 In 2008, the developer commenced laying out the foundations for a 
garage block on the site but was informed that work must stop as this was in 
breach of the S106 agreement.   The developer complied with this request but 
the works which had been carried out on site meant that the planning 
permission remained live, with this being checked with Legal Services 
 Having been provided with contextual information in respect of the 
application, Officers then presented the report to Panel which sought approval 
for a flood compensation storage area relating to an approved residential 
development which was located in the functional floodplain (Zone 3b) 
 The proposals were to raise the properties by 50cm and displace the 
water towards the floodplain area – Keswick Beck.   A cut and fill operation 
would be used, with the materials excavated being used to create a bund of 
up to 1.5m high, which, as well as being requested by the EA, would also 
provide a greater degree of comfort to the residents in the area.   Outlet pipes 
would be placed in the bund and whilst local concerns had been raised about 
the sewer which crossed the site, Members were informed that the sewer 
would not be impacted on 
 To ensure the bund did not create more flooding, an agreement had 
been obtained with two adjacent landowners that their land could be flooded if 
a 1:100 year flood event occurred 
 In respect of the EA, it was now satisfied that the proposed scheme 
was acceptable, as was Yorkshire Water and the Council’s Flood Risk 
Manager 
 Whilst there had been a significant level of objections received to the 
scheme proposed in 2009, since the revised scheme which was before 
Members had been advertised,  it was reported that no representations had 
been received 
 Members commented on the following matters: 

• the issues raised previously by local residents and set out in paragraph 
6.2 of the submitted report and whether these had been resolved 

• whether the proposed scheme would benefit the residents of Paddock 
View 

• the need for the bund to be maintained and for this requirement to be 
set out legally 

• that flooding was a major issue but that development was continuing to 
be allowed which had an impact on this 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 29th November, 2012 

 

• that the proposals would not be of any benefit to those living further 
down stream who invariably were affected the most 

Officers provided the following responses: 

• that the issues raised in paragraph 6.2 of the report related to the 
previous scheme and had been addressed by the scheme before 
Members.   The Competent Authority in this case was the EA which 
was satisfied with the proposals and there was a degree of betterment 
provided by the scheme, for residents.   Bardsey Parish Council had 
not commented on the revised proposals and there had been no 
representations received from the public  

• that the scheme would benefit the residents of Paddock View 
• that it would be for the Council to ensure that those matters covered in 
the S106 agreement would be enforced and in perpetuity; that Officers 
would need to be satisfied that the flood compensatory storage scheme 
was in order before the development commenced and that the 
proposed wording of the S106 agreement could be revised to highlight  
the requirement for the bund to be retained and maintained 

RESOLVED -  To defer and delegate approval to the Chief Planning  
Officer, subject to the conditions set out in the submitted report and following 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement to cover the following matter: 

• The housing development approved under ref 31/200/00/RM will not be 
continued until the proposed flood storage area and the bund, 
approved under application ref 09/04018/FU has been completed and 
authorised as such in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

• The applicant or successors in title of the proposed site or any part of 
the land shall retain and maintain the flood storage area and bund 
provided under application ref 09/04018/FU for the life of the residential 
development 

• The applicant or successor in title of the land or any part of the land 
under application ref 09/04018/FU to enforce the requirement of the 
written agreements from Mr C N and Mrs S Lupton and Mr E Gilchrist, 
both dated 26.04.2012 to provide the floodwater capacity for the 
approved developments refs 32/200/00/RM and 09/04018/FU 

In the circumstances where the Section 106 has not been completed within 3 
months of the resolution to grant planning permission, the final determination 
of the application shall be delegated to the Chief Planning Officer 
 
 

15 Application 12/03034/FU -  Partial demolition of existing retail units and 
extension of existing supermarket; car parking; laying out and 
landscaping to Hallfield Lane car park -  Morrisons Supermarket 7-8 
Horsefair Centre 22-28 North Street Wetherby LS22  

 
 Plans, drawings, photographs and graphics were displayed at the 
meeting.   A Members site visit had taken place earlier in the day 
 It was the decision of the Chair to consider the corresponding 
Conservation Area application (minute 16 refers) simultaneously, although 
each application would be determined individually 
 Officers presented the report which sought permission for an extension 
to the existing Morrisons supermarket at the Horsefair Centre, North Street 

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 29th November, 2012 

 

Wetherby LS22 which would include the partial demolition of existing retail 
units together with landscaping and improved car parking to the Council 
owned Hallfield Lane car park 
 A revised plan was shown to Panel which included a coach drop off 
point and pedestrian link which the applicant had now included in response to 
comments from Ward Members and Wetherby Town Council.   Also to 
address local concerns, the residents’ car parking spaces within the Halllfield 
Lane car park would be retained 
 A garden area would be provided at the corner of the site and whilst 
the scheme did not include public toilets, it did not preclude these being 
provided at a later date if funding could be provided 
 In relation to improvements to the Hallfield Lane car park, this would 
include a new hard surface; lighting and landscaping.   Although there would 
not be an increase in the number of spaces being provided,  the 144 spaces 
would be marked out in the car park with the ratio between short and long 
stay spaces to be resolved by Highways Officers, in consultation with Ward 
Members 

The receipt of a further letter of representation was reported, although 
it was stated that this did not raise any material planning issues 
 Members commented on the following matters: 

• the lack of toilets in the scheme.   Members were informed that toilets 
would be provided in the supermarket but these would not be public 
ones; although the provision of these was an aspiration and the layout 
of the proposals could accommodate them 

• the likelihood of the scheme being implemented in view of proposals 
from Asda for a store on land at Standbeck Lane.   On this, Officers 
stated they were unable to comment on the motivation behind the 
application but stressed that it complied with policy  

RESOLVED – That the application be granted subject to the conditions set  
out in the submitted report 
 
 

16 Application 12/03035/CA - Conservation Area application for partial 
demolition of existing retail units and covered mall -  Morrisons 
Supermarket - 7-8 Horsefair Centre 22-28 North Street Wetherby LS22  

 
 With reference to the previous discussions (minute 15 refers), Panel 
considered a report of the Chief Planning Officer relating to a Conservation 
Area application for demolition of existing units and covered mall, to facilitate 
an extension to Morrisons supermarket at the Horsefair Centre, Wetherby 
LS22 
 RESOLVED -  To grant consent subject to the conditions set out in the 
submitted report 
 
 

17 Application 12/03300/ADV - Retrospective consent for six flag signs and 
two non-illuminated signs at Churchfields, High Street Boston Spa LS23  

 
 Plans, drawings and photographs were displayed at the meeting.   A 
Members site visit had taken place earlier in the day 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 29th November, 2012 

 

 Officers presented the report which sought retrospective approval for 
temporary planning approval for a period of three years for marketing signs 
advertising a forthcoming residential development which was located in a 
Conservation Area 
 Members were informed that an earlier application to introduce a 
similar arrangement of signs across the frontage of the site was refused due 
to the proposals being harmful to the visual impact of the St Mary’s Church 
and to the character of the Conservation Area.   The revised scheme was 
considered to be acceptable; the signs were felt to be discreet and only 
noticeable when in close proximity to them and that the long distance views 
from Boston Spa were protected 
 The Panel discussed the application with there being mixed views on 
the intrusive nature of the signs 

Concerns were raised that the applicant, a major house builder, should 
have been aware that planning permission was required for these signs, prior 
to them being erected.   That fact that the hedge immediately adjacent to the 
signs was deciduous was raised as this would lead to greater visibility of the 
signs for several months of the year 

In respect of the timescale of the application, although this had been 
presented as a temporary consent for three years there was concern that due 
to the housing market, the timescale for completion of the residential 
development could be much longer.   On this point, the Chair advised that if 
the site had not been completed within the three year period, a further 
application would be required to renew the temporary consent for the signs 
 The Panel considered how to proceed 
 RESOLVED -  That the application be granted subject to the condition 
set out in the submitted report 
 
 

18 Application 12/01141/FU - Detached house at Plot 1, Land adjacent to 8 
Lowther Avenue Garforth LS25  

 
 Plans, photographs and drawings were displayed at the meeting 
 Officers presented the report which sought permission for a single 
detached dwelling on land adjacent to 8 Lowther Avenue Garforth LS25 and 
provided a brief history of the site, with Panel being informed that an outline 
application was granted in 2007 followed by approval of the Reserved Matters 
application in 2008.   At that time the site was considered to be a brownfield 
site, but in view of changes introduced to national planning policy in June 
2010, the site was now considered to be greenfield.   Members were informed 
that had there not been an extant permission for the site, a less intensive 
scheme would be sought for the site.   What was being proposed in the 
application before Panel was essentially the same building which had 
approval apart from the removal of a chimney and the addition of a single 
storey rear extension with additional side windows 
 Concerns had been raised about the relationship between the 
proposed house and the neighbouring properties but that an accurate street 
plan had now been provided.   In recommending approval of the scheme to 
Panel, Officers had noted the fall-back position which existed in this case and 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 29th November, 2012 

 

that most of the alterations could be allowed under permitted development 
rights 
 The Panel heard representations from the applicant and an objector 
who attended the meeting 
 Clarification was sought on the issue of height of the proposed 
dwelling, with Panel being informed this would be 5.6m to eaves height and 
8.9m to ridge height, with the height of 9 Lowther Drive being given as 2.5m to 
eaves height and 6.4m to ridge height 
 RESOLVED -  That the application be granted subject to the conditions 
set out in the submitted report 
 
 

19 Application 12/04100/FU - First floor side extension with window to side - 
60 Jackson Avenue Gledhow LS8  

 
 Plans, photographs and drawings were displayed at the meeting 
 Officers presented a report to Panel seeking approval for a first floor 
side extension with window to the side at 60 Jackson Avenue Gledhow LS8.   
Members were informed that as the applicant was a senior officer of Highway 
Services, it was considered appropriate for Panel to determine the application 
 If minded to approve the application, an additional condition was 
recommended regarding clarification to be provided of the window detail 
 RESOLVED -  That the application be granted subject to the conditions 
set out in the submitted report and an additional condition requiring revised 
plans to be submitted which clarified the window detail 
 
 

20 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

 Thursday 29th November 2012 at 1.30pm in the Civic Hall, Leeds 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Report of the Chief Planning Officer

PLANS PANEL NORTH AND EAST

Date: 29th November 2012

Subject: Application 12/01597/FU – Alterations to existing unauthorised residential 
annexe at 11 Old Park Road, Gledhow, LS8 1JT.

APPLICANT DATE VALID TARGET DATE
Mr Wajid Hussain 19th April 2012 14th June 2012

RECOMMENDATION:

DEFER and DELEGATE approval to the Chief Planning officer subject to the  
conditions suggested below and the receipt of a completed and signed unilateral 
undertaking from the applicants restricting occupation of the annexe building to 
family members of the occupants of the main dwelling, and tying the applicants into 
completion of the works to comply with the plans now submitted within a period of 8 
months from the date of the decision. 

In the circumstances where the unilateral undertaking has not been completed within 
3 months of the resolution to grant planning permission, the final determination of the 
application shall be delegated to the Chief Planning Officer.

Conditions

1. Development to commence within [period to be specified in accordance with 
timescales in legal undertaking to be submitted by applicant, once these are agreed]. 

2. Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans.
3. Roofing materials to be clay tiles to match main dwelling – details to be submitted for 

approval within 1 month of the date of decision. 

Specific Implications For:

Equality and Diversity

Community Cohesion

Narrowing the Gap

Electoral Wards Affected:

Roundhay

Originator: Jillian Rann

Tel: 0113 222 4409

Ward Members consulted
(referred to in report)

Yes

Agenda Item 7

Page 9



4. Windows to be side-hung, painted or stained timber casements and door to be timber
– colour, sections and profiles and details of mullions to be submitted for approval 
within 1 month of the date of decision. 

5. Any blocking up of existing openings, including openings left by relocation of windows 
and the blocking up of the kitchen window in the south western elevation, to be 
carried out in stone and with pointing etc to match that used on the existing annexe 
building.

6. Hedge along north western boundary to be retained at a height of no less than 2m 
and, in the event that any part of the hedge dies, to be replaced with species to the 
same specification as those detailed in the horticulturalist’s email submitted as part of 
the application within 3 months.

7. Management and maintenance schedule for hedge, to include regular visits by 
suitably qualified professional, to be submitted for approval within 1 month of the date 
of decision.

8. Removal of permitted development rights for any further extensions or outbuildings
within the site, including rooflights or lightwells to annexe building.

Informatives

1. Attention drawn to unilateral undertaking restricting occupancy of building to family 
members of the occupants of the main dwelling and setting timescales for completion 
of the building. 

Reasons for approval

The changes now proposed to the building are considered, on balance, to address 
previous concerns regarding the scale, massing and design of the building and its 
resultant impact on the character and appearance of the site and the conservation 
area, and the health of the sycamore tree to the rear of the building. The proposals 
are now considered to comply with policies GP5, N12, N13, N19, N20, N25, N26, 
N28, BC2, BD5, T2, T24 and LD1 of the Leeds Unitary Development Plan Review 
2006, together with the guidance in SPG13: Neighbourhoods for Living, Roundhay 
Neighbourhood Design Statement SPD, Roundhay Conservation Area Appraisal, 
Leeds City Council’s Guideline Distances from Development to Trees document and 
the National Planning Policy Framework, and having regard to all other material 
planning considerations, are considered acceptable. 

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 This application is reported to Plans Panel because of the extensive planning and 
enforcement history relating to this site, most recently Plans Panel’s refusal of a
previous application for alterations to the unauthorised building in October 2011, as 
well as the significant level of public interest in the proposals. 

1.2 The application relates to an unauthorised annexe building which stands in the rear 
garden of an existing dwelling at 11 Old Park Road in Gledhow. Permission was 
granted in February 2007 for a detached two storey building with a double garage 
and games room to the ground floor with a one bedroom ‘granny flat’ above, to 
replace a detached single storey garage which formerly stood to the rear of the 
dwelling. The approved building included the retention of a small single storey 
garden store which stood to the rear of the former garage. The building which now 
stands on the site was not built in accordance with the plans approved at that time, 
and is 4.7m longer at first floor level, 2.7m longer at ground floor level, 1.4m higher 
and of a different design, with gable ends rather than a hipped roof and with no 
integral garage. The unauthorised building also includes a basement and rooms in 

Page 10



the roofspace which were not part of the original permission. A comparison of the 
unauthorised building, the building approved in 2007, and the current proposals is 
provided in Table 1 below.

1.3 Permission was refused for the retention of the unauthorised building in May 2009 
and again in August 2009, and an enforcement notice was subsequently served, 
requiring the building to be demolished. Appeals against the second refusal and the 
enforcement notice were dismissed in August 2010 following a public inquiry in July 
2010. The enforcement notice as amended by the appeal Inspector required the 
building to be demolished within 8 months of the date of his decision (i.e. by 19th

April 2011), and the site to be reinstated to garden within 10 months (i.e. by 19th

June 2011). In determining these timescales for compliance, the Inspector noted 
that he understood it was the appellant’s intention to implement the scheme 
approved in 2007 in the event that the appeal was dismissed.

1.4 A subsequent application was submitted in December 2010, proposing some 
alterations to the building, but still proposing the retention of the building at a size 
which was larger than that for which permission was granted in 2007. The 
application was refused by Plans Panel East in October 2011 on the grounds that 
the changes proposed were still insufficient to overcome previous reasons for 
refusal and the concerns of the appeal Inspector regarding the scale and massing of 
the building and the resultant impact on the Roundhay conservation area.

1.5 Since the refusal of the previous application, further discussions have been held 
with the applicant, reiterating once again the advice that the building should have no 
greater impact visually than that for which permission was granted in 2007.
Following these discussions, the current application has been revised, and now 
proposes the reduction of the first floor of the building to a length no greater than 
that which was previously approved, whilst retaining the ground floor and the 
basement below in their current positions. Visual improvements to the windows and 
the roof are also proposed, and the hedge which has now been planted alongside 
the north western side of the building, replacing that which was lost along the 
boundary with the school site during the building’s construction, is proposed to be 
retained.

2.0 PROPOSAL:

2.1 Permission is now sought for alterations to the existing unauthorised building to 
create a smaller annexe building. The supporting documentation for the application 
states that the building provides additional living space for the applicant’s extended 
family, and the appeal Inspector took the view that on this basis it was appropriate 
to assess the building as an annexe/ancillary building to the main house, rather than 
as a separate dwelling. It is therefore on this basis that the current application has 
been considered. A draft unilateral undertaking has been submitted by the 
applicants as part of the application, which would legally restrict occupancy of the 
annexe building solely to family members of the occupants of the main dwelling on 
the site. Following legal advice as to the most appropriate means of ensuring that 
the works now proposed to remedy the unauthorised development are completed 
within a reasonable timescale, it has been suggested to the applicants that the 
undertaking should also set a timescale for the completion of the works which, in the 
event that the current application is approved, would then legally commit the 
applicant to carrying out the works within these timescales. An update on this will be 
provided to Members at the Plans Panel meeting. 

2.2 The alterations now proposed to the unauthorised building include:
Page 11



Reducing the length of the building’s first floor to 12.3m, which is identical to
the building which was approved in 2007 (a reduction of 4.7m from the 
unauthorised building as constructed). The ground floor of the building would 
remain as constructed, as would the basement, which was not part of the 
original permission. The first floor would be reduced by 3.55m in length to 
the rear, with a hipped roof being provided over the remaining ground floor 
area, and by 1.15m to the front, with a monopitch roof above this remaining 
ground floor projection.

Replacement of existing gable-ended roof with a lower, shallower hipped 
roof and removal of rooflights.

Replacement of existing concrete roof tiles with plain clay tiles to match the 
main dwelling.

Blocking up of kitchen window in the south western elevation of the building.

Changes to existing windows:
o Repositioning of some windows to accommodate the changes to the 

first floor
o Replacement of UPVC windows with timber casements and door with a 

timber boarded door
o Changes to the design of the windows to incorporate features such as 

glazing bars and mullions.

2.3 The proposed alterations would result in the removal of the accommodation in the 
roofspace of the building, but would allow the basement area to be retained. 
According to the submitted plans, the proposed building as amended would be 17m 
long at ground floor level, as it is at present, and 12.3m long at first floor level. The 
overall height to the ridge would be 6.7m.

2.4 The table below sets out the dimensions and details of the accommodation provided 
in the unauthorised building at present, the building approved in 2007 and the 
amended building now proposed:

2007 permission Existing unauthorised 
building

Current proposal

Length 14.4m (ground floor)
12.3m (first floor)

17m (ground and first floor) 17m (ground floor)
12.3m (first floor)

Width 7.2m 7m 7m

Height 5m to eaves
6.6m to ridge 
(Hipped roof)

5m to eaves
8m to ridge 
(Gable-ended pitched roof)

5m to eaves
6.7m to ridge 
(Hipped roof)

Footprint 95m2 119m2 119m2

Floorspace 158m2 344m2 246m2

Basement None Storage/gym Storage

Ground floor Double garage, 
shower room, store, 
games room.

Living room, hall, 
cloakroom, kitchen/dining 
room

Living room, hall, 
cloakroom,
kitchen/dining room

First Floor 1 bedroom, store,
lounge, bathroom,
kitchenette

3 bedrooms, bathroom 3 bedrooms, bathroom

Second Floor None Playroom None

Table 1: Comparison of building as approved, constructed and now proposed

2.5 Having compared the details on the submitted plans with the approved plans for the 
2007 application, the length of the first floor of the building as now proposed would 

Page 12



be identical to that which was approved in 2007, although the ground floor would be 
2.6m longer. It would also be slightly higher (approx 10cm). The footprint of the 
building, at 119m2, is 25% larger than that of the building approved in 2007.
However, as the building as constructed is slightly narrower than that which was 
originally approved, the reduction in the length of the first floor back to 12.3m means 
that the footprint of the first floor would actually now be slightly smaller than 
approved in 2007. 

3.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

3.1 The application relates to an unauthorised building to the rear of 11 Old Park Road, 
built in 2008-2009. The main house is a stone and render detached dwelling with a 
red tile roof, a front gable with half-timber detailing and bay windows. The 
unauthorised building is constructed of stone, with a concrete pan-tile roof, and has 
accommodation over 4 storeys, including a basement and rooms in the roofspace, 
served by large rooflights. The building has a pitched roof with gable ends and 
brown UPVC windows and doors.

3.2 The front of the site has been laid out with hardstanding, and a low stone wall and 
black metal gates and railings mark the front boundary. Much of the north western 
boundary of the site is enclosed by a hedge over 2m high. The section of the hedge 
adjacent to the application building was lost at the time of the building’s 
construction, but a new hedge has subsequently been planted and has seen some 
growth. There are a number of mature trees along the rear boundary of the site 
which are protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO), including a purple-leafed 
sycamore immediately to the rear of the unauthorised building.

3.3 The site is within Roundhay conservation area, and the main dwelling is identified as 
a positive building in the conservation area appraisal. Old Park Road runs along the 
western edge of Roundhay Park, a registered historic park to the east of the site. To 
the north west of the site, and directly adjoining its boundary, are the grounds of 
Roundhay School, with the school buildings some distance away to the west. The 
unauthorised building is clearly visible in views from Old Park Road, across the 
school playing fields, and in more distant views across Roundhay Park from the 
north east. 

3.4 Mature trees form a key part of the area’s character, both in public spaces such as 
the park, and in private areas like the school grounds and the gardens of residential 
properties. One of the recurring themes of the Roundhay Conservation Area 
Appraisal, is the importance of open space to the character of the conservation 
area, and the appeal Inspector noted that sense of spaciousness that this open 
space, including parkland, playing fields and the gaps between houses, was a 
characteristic he considered worthy of preservation and enhancement. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

4.1 The first proposal for an outbuilding/detached building in the grounds of 11 Old Park 
Road was submitted in August 2006 (application 06/05086/FU) and sought 
permission for a replacement detached double garage and games room with granny 
flat over. The application was withdrawn in October 2006 following advice from the 
local planning authority that the proposed building was too large, and concerns 
regarding the impact on trees around the site.

4.2 A revised application was submitted in January 2007 for a smaller building, again to 
contain a detached garage with granny flat over (application 07/0030/FU). The 

Page 13



details submitted with the 2007 application showed a building 14.4m long at ground 
floor level and 12.3m long at first floor level, and 6.6m high. The approved building 
had a shallow hipped roof, and details submitted with the application confirmed that 
the building had been designed’ to have as little impact as possible on the 
surrounding area’, and that materials would match the existing building.

4.3 Construction works commenced on site in early 2008, and during the course of the 
works it became evident that the building was not being constructed in accordance 
with the approved plans, and enforcement action commenced. During the 
construction of the unauthorised building, and prior to the serving of an enforcement 
notice, the first application to retain the building was submitted in December 2008 
(reference 08/06852/FU). The application was refused in May 2009 for the following 
reasons:

Height, length, scale, design, materials and siting of the building and the loss 
of the boundary hedge result in a building which fails to reflect the character 
of surrounding development and detracts from the host building, the 
streetscene and the conservation area, including views across the registered 
historic park.

Amount of accommodation exceeded that associated with an ancillary 
annexe.

Proximity to trees to the rear – likely damage to roots, concerns regarding  
light and stability and pressure for trees to be removed or radically pruned.

Insufficient information that an appropriate replacement boundary treatment 
could be achieved to the west.

4.4 A second application to retain the building was submitted in August 2009 (reference
09/03515/FU) and was accompanied by accurate survey plans of the site and the 
building and additional supporting documentation setting out the applicant’s 
justification for the building. The application was refused in September 2009 for the 
three reasons set out above, as well as reasons relating to the loss of amenity for 
the existing dwelling and overdevelopment of the site.

4.5 An enforcement notice was served in relation to the unauthorised building in August 
2009, requiring the demolition of the building and the reinstatement of the garden 
area. Appeals against the enforcement notice and the second refusal of planning 
permission were dismissed in August 2010 following a public inquiry in July 2010. 
As part of the appeal the applicants submitted a Unilateral Undertaking offering to 
restrict the use of the building to occupation by family members only.

4.6 Following the dismissal of the planning and enforcement appeals in August 2010, in 
which the Inspector considered in some detail the nature of the scheme previously 
approved in 2007, a subsequent application was received in December 2010, 
seeking to retain the building with alterations. Whilst this included the replacement of 
the gable-ended roof with a hipped roof and visual improvements to the windows 
similar to those which form part of the current application, it proposed a reduction of 
only 3m at first floor level (leaving a building which was still 1.7m longer than that 
approved in 2007). The application was refused by Plans Panel in October 2011 on 
the grounds that these reductions were insufficient to overcome previous concerns, 
and that the scale and massing of the building would still be excessive and detract 
significantly from the character and appearance of the site, the streetscene and the 
conservation area. 

Page 14



5.0 HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:

5.1 Following the refusal of the previous application in October 2011, further discussions 
took place with the applicants and their representatives, and the current application 
was received in April 2012. As originally submitted, the current application proposed 
to reduce the first floor by 4m (2m from the front of the building and 2m from the 
rear), leaving flat-roofed areas above the remaining ground floor projections. The 
drawings submitted also omitted the visual improvements to the windows which had 
previously been included, and included the kitchen window which the applicants had 
previously agreed to block up to overcome earlier concerns regarding the 
relationship between this window and the tree to the rear.

5.2 In response to the application as submitted, significant concerns were raised by 
planning and conservation officers that the building was still larger than that 
approved in 2007, that the visual improvements to the windows and roofing 
materials previously agreed to had been deleted from the proposals again, and that 
the flat-roofed ground floor sections would appear incongruous and fail to reflect the 
character of surrounding development, causing further detriment to the conservation 
area. A further meeting was subsequently held with the applicants, who were 
advised that, as had consistently been advised previously, the building as proposed 
should be no larger than that which had been approved in 2007. Detailed advice 
was also provided by the conservation officer regarding the changes that would 
need to be incorporated into the windows and doors of the building in terms of their 
materials and design in order to overcome his concerns in this respect. The 
applicants were also asked to provide a unilateral undertaking, restricting the 
occupancy of the building to family members of the occupants of the main dwelling, 
and a timetable for carrying out the works that they would need to undertake in 
order to bring the unauthorised building in line with a revised and reduced proposal, 
should permission be granted. 

5.3 Following this meeting, revised plans have been received which although retaining 
the ground floor of the building as constructed (2.6m longer than the permitted 
building), now show the first floor reduced to 12.3m, which is identical to the building 
approved in 2007, with pitched/hipped roofs above the retained ground floor areas, 
replacing the flat roofs which were originally proposed. The revised plans also 
incorporate the changes suggested by the conservation officer, including the 
replacement of the large UPVC windows with timber windows incorporating features 
such as glazing bars and mullions which are more characteristic of other buildings in 
the locality. The kitchen window in the rear elevation, facing the TPO sycamore tree, 
is now once again proposed to be blocked up A draft unilateral undertaking and 
timetable for the carrying out of the necessary reconfiguration works to bring the 
building in line with the plans now submitted have also been received, indicating a 
timescale of 28 weeks for the completion of the works, with key phases within this 
identified. As discussed below, it has been suggested to the applicants that these 
timescales are incorporated into the unilateral undertaking, although at the time of 
writing a revised draft of this document including this is awaited. A further update on 
this will be provided at the Plans Panel meeting. 

6.0 PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:

6.1 Following the receipt of revised plans as part of the application as discussed above, 
the proposals were re-advertised and all those who had previously commented were 
notified that revised plans had been submitted, with the plans being made available 
to view online. For clarity, it is noted in each section below whether the comments 

Page 15



reported relate to the plans as originally submitted with the current application or to 
the revised plans which were subsequently received.

Roundhay Conservation Society
6.2 Roundhay Conservation Society advised that whilst they had no objections to the 

building proposed in 2007, the building as constructed is far larger, and they note 
that subsequent applications and appeals to retain the building were refused and 
dismissed. In response to the plans as originally submitted, they advised that the 
proposals still failed to respond to previous reasons for refusal and that the building 
would remain out of proportion, and as an eyesore in the conservation area. 
Concerns were also raised that allowing the unauthorised building to remain in this 
form could set a precedent for similar unauthorised developments, to the further 
detriment of Roundhay’s character. They reiterated previous comments that the 
building should be changed back to the size of that which was approved in 2007. 

Roundhay Planning Forum
6.3 In response to the plans as originally submitted, the Roundhay Planning Forum 

advised that the changes made still failed to address their previous objections, and 
raised concerns regarding the failure of the Council to take further action to enforce 
against the unauthorised building in the light of the appeal Inspector’s findings, and 
the precedent for similar developments in the future if this was not done. 

Gledhow Valley Conservation Group
6.4 In response to the application as originally submitted, the Group raised concerns 

that a further application had been submitted which was little different to previous 
refused proposals, and significant concerns that no further steps had been taken to 
require the demolition of the building in accordance with the enforcement notice 
upheld by the Inspector, advising that this led to a feeling of powerlessness amongst 
the local community to do anything about unauthorised developments which are 
harmful to their local areas. 

Leeds Civic Trust
6.5 The Civic Trust have also raised concerns that no further action has been taken to 

pursue compliance with the enforcement notice requiring the demolition of the 
unauthorised building, and the potential for lengthy inaction in such cases to bring 
the planning system into disrepute. 

6.6  In response to the plans as originally submitted, they noted that neither the 
reductions to the first floor length or to the height of the building would bring it back 
in line with those approved in 2007, and that the ground floor would remain as built, 
with flat-roofed sections to either end. In this respect they raised concerns that the 
proposal would still be excessive in volume and length in this sensitive area, and 
that the resulting design with its flat roofed sections was unacceptable in its form 
and massing. 

6.7 The Civic Trust advised that in the event that planning permission were to be 
granted for a revised scheme, this should be subject to a condition or agreement 
that the work would be carried out and completed within a very limited timescale. 

Other local response
6.8 The application was originally advertised by site notice, posted 4th May 2012. 8 

letters of objection were received in response to the plans as originally submitted, 
including one from former Ward Member Matthew Lobley, raising the following 
concerns:

Page 16



Building still too large, overbearing, not subservient to the main house, and 
inappropriate in conservation area and close to Listed frontage of Roundhay 
School.

Flat-roofed projections completely out of keeping with neighbouring buildings 
and the historic character of the area.

Previous proposals to improve the appearance of the windows now removed 
from the plans again.

Proposals would not receive permission if submitted as a new application.

Still fails to address previous concerns of residents, Members, appeal 
Inspector and Council Officers. 

Insufficient space for screen planting between the building and the boundary, 
and building is still too large irrespective of any screening.

Inconsistencies between submitted plans.

Ground floor still proposed to be retained at its full length – potential 
implications for long-term health of TPO tree to the rear in terms of space for 
roots to grow, stability, and pressure for pruning/removal in the future as the 
tree overhangs the building.

Lack of enforcement action to uphold Inspector’s decision and ensure 
demolition of the building is causing significant public disillusionment with 
planning process. 

Precedent for other similar unauthorised developments if no action is taken.

6.9 Two letters of support were received in relation to the plans as originally submitted, 
making the following comments:

Building is well constructed and not an eyesore.

Changes proposed to reduce the roof height and the mass of the building are 
sufficient.

Larger buildings exist within the conservation area without causing harm.

Understand that there is permission for a larger building. 

The matter has gone on for too long, the applicant has worked with the 
planners, and the application should now be approved.

6.10 Following the receipt of the revised plans letters were sent to all those who had 
previously commented on the application notifying them of the revisions. No 
comments have been received at the time of writing, but an update on any 
comments received will be provided to Members at the Plans Panel meeting. 

7.0 CONSULTATIONS RESPONSES:

Statutory
7.1 None.

Non-statutory
7.2 None.

8.0 PLANNING POLICIES:

Development Plan
8.1 The development plan includes the Regional Spatial Strategy to 2026 (RSS) and the

adopted Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006) (UDP). The RSS was 
issued in May 2008 and includes a broad development strategy for the region, 
setting out regional priorities in terms of the location and scale of development. In 

Page 17



view of the relatively small scale of this proposal, it is not considered that there are 
any particular policies which are relevant to the consideration of this application.

8.2 The Publication Draft of the Core Strategy was issued for public consultation on 28th

February 2012 with the consultation period closing on 12th April 2012. Following 
consideration of any representations received, the Council intends to submit the 
draft Core Strategy for examination. The Core Strategy sets out strategic level 
policies and vision to guide the delivery of development investment decisions and 
the overall future of the district. As the Core Strategy is in its pre submission stages 
only limited weight can be afforded to any relevant policies at this point in time.

8.3 The site is in Roundhay conservation area. Roundhay Park, to the east, is a 
registered historic park, and is designated as Green Belt and greenspace. The park 
and the grounds of Roundhay School to the north west are designated as Urban 
Green Corridor. The following UDP policies are relevant to the consideration of the 
application:

GP5 – General planning considerations
N12 – Urban design
N13 – Design and new buildings
N19 – New development in conservation areas
N20 – Retention of features that contribute to the character of a conservation area
N25 – Development and site boundaries
N26 – Landscaping schemes
N28 – Historic parks and gardens
BC2 – Materials in conservation areas
BD5 – Amenity and new buildings
T2 – Highways
T24 – Parking
LD1 – Landscape design and retention of trees and vegetation.

Relevant supplementary guidance
8.4 The following Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPGs) and Supplementary 

Planning Documents (SPDs) are relevant to the consideration of the application:

SPG13 – Neighbourhoods for Living: A Guide for Residential Design in Leeds
Roundhay Neighbourhood Design Statement SPD – Adopted June 2011
Guideline Distances from Development to Trees: Updated March 2011
Roundhay Conservation Area Appraisal – Adopted September 2004.

National Planning Policy
8.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 27th March 2012 

and replaces previous Planning Policy Guidance/Statements in setting out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be 
applied. One of the key principles at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in 
favour of Sustainable Development.

8.6 The NPPF makes specific reference to the protection of the historic environment as 
a key role of the planning system in achieving sustainable development. Paragraph 
131 advises that when making decisions on planning applications which affect 
heritage assets such as conservation areas, local planning authorities should take 
account of:

The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation

Page 18



The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities including their economic vitality

The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness.

9.0 MAIN ISSUES

1. Principle of development
2. Visual amenity and impact on character and appearance of the conservation area
3. Trees and landscaping
4. Residential amenity
5. Highway safety
6. Equality and personal circumstances of the applicant
7. Unilateral undertaking and timescales for changes to building

10.0 APPRAISAL

Principle of development
10.1 Despite the Council’s concerns regarding the nature of the accommodation provided 

and the potential for the building to be used as a separate dwelling, the appeal 
Inspector accepted that the building provides living accommodation additional to 
that provided by the main house, and is used solely as an annex to the main house, 
not as a separate dwelling, and he considered the appeal on that basis. In the light 
of this, the consideration of the current application is also made on the basis of the 
building being an annex to the existing dwelling, rather than a separate dwelling. 
The principle of an ancillary outbuilding to the rear of 11 Old Park Road was 
established through the permission granted for a detached garage and granny 
annexe in 2007, and is still considered to be acceptable, subject to other material 
considerations such as the impact of any such building on the conservation area 
and the trees to the rear of the site. 

10.2 The applicant has submitted a unilateral undertaking as part of the application which 
would form part of the decision and, if approved, would legally restrict occupancy of 
the annexe solely to family members of the occupants of the main dwelling. 

Visual amenity and impact on character and appearance of the conservation area
10.3 The appeal Inspector identified one of the recurring themes of the Roundhay

Conservation Area Appraisal as being the importance of open space to the
character of the conservation area. He noted that ‘open space, whether in the form
of parkland, a playing field, the separation between the fronts of houses and
adjoining roads, or just in terms of the gaps between houses, gives the locality a
sense of spaciousness’, and that this was a characteristic he considered worthy of
preservation or enhancement.

10.4 The Inspector noted that views of the building from the playing fields of the school to
the north were ‘conspicuous’ and that, whilst not an area to which the public have
unrestricted access, the fields were likely to be well used and therefore views from
this area were an important consideration. In this respect, he notes that when
viewed from the playing fields, the existing building, by reason of its height and
length, ‘dominates the rear garden of no. 11 and it appears to fill much of the visible
space between the rear of the main house and the neighbouring property [to the
rear] at no. 4 Ryder Gardens.’ He also comments that while the unauthorised
building is an annex to the main house, its length was ‘comparable to that of nearby
dwellings’, and appeared to be of a size ‘more akin to a detached dwelling than of a
structure that is ancillary to the main house.’ On this basis, he concluded that when

Page 19



viewed from the playing fields, the building ‘significantly erodes the sense of
spaciousness that would otherwise exist between properties.’

10.5 In terms of views from Old Park Road and Roundhay Park, the Inspector comments
that the existing building is visible through gaps between street trees on Old Park
Road, and that from these directions ‘the considerable bulk of the structure is readily
apparent and its adverse impact upon the openness of the area is clearly seen.’ He
noted that a new hedge had been planted along the boundary between the site and
the school, but considered that even if the hedge were to grow well, much of the
building would still be visible, and that the ‘height, length and massing of the
structure would still be readily apparent’. He therefore concluded that ‘accordingly,
the harm caused by the development might be lessened but it would not be
materially overcome by replacing the hedge.’

10.6 The Inspector noted that the length and massing of the existing building were not
readily apparent when viewed along the drive to no.11, but that the height was very
evident in this view and that the steeply pitched roof and gable elevation ‘accentuate
the height of the structure in a way that challenges the dominance of the main
house,’ making the building ‘incongruously tall.’

10.7 In the light of his comments on the appearance of the building as set out above, the
appeal Inspector concluded that:

The appeal building, due to its inappropriate height, length and massing, neither 
preserves nor enhances the character or appearance of the Conservation Area.
Rather it materially harms the sense of spaciousness that is an important feature of 
the locality. Such harm could not be overcome by [a number of alterations 
suggested to the windows and materials as part of the appeal]. Nor could this harm 
be overcome by altering the profile of the roof. The appeal building is simply too 
large for this site.

10.8 In the light of the Inspectors conclusions regarding the existing building on the site,
the key considerations in assessing the amendments now proposed to the building
are whether they would overcome his concerns regarding the height, length and
massing of the building and the resultant loss to the ‘sense of spaciousness’ which
is such an important part of the conservation area’s character. The judgment to be
made is whether the resultant building would preserve or enhance the conservation
area.

10.9 On the basis of the plans originally submitted with the current application, planning 
and conservation officers raised concerns that the building was still larger than that 
which was approved in 2007 and would still be too large compared with ancillary 
structures in surrounding gardens, occupying too much of the garden and disrupting 
the relationship of the buildings to the gardens and the open spaces around them. 
Concerns were also raised that the flat-roofed projections proposed to the front and 
rear of the building, and the retention of the large UPVC windows and the 
asymmetrical arrangement of the fenestration resulting from the changes to the 
building would be incongruous and uncharacteristic of buildings within the 
conservation area, and would be of significant detriment to the conservation area as 
a result. 

10.10 Following a further meeting with the applicants, revised plans were received, 
reducing the first floor of the building to the same size as the building approved in 
2007, and incorporating changes to the design and materials of the doors and 

Page 20



windows, together with the replacement of the proposed flat-roofed areas with 
pitched/hipped roofs.

10.11 The proposed reduction of the first floor of the building to a length of 12.3m would 
bring this back in line with that which was approved in 2007. Although the 
replacement hipped roof would be slightly higher than was originally approved, it is 
not considered that this would not significantly affect its massing or visual presence. 
It is therefore considered that this aspect of the development would not have a 
materially greater impact than the originally approved development in terms of its 
scale, height or massing, and that the building as now proposed would therefore 
appear as a more subservient feature within the setting of the main dwelling, 
maintaining greater separation from it and surrounding properties. On balance, in 
the light of this, it is considered that the proposed changes to the upper floor would 
preserve the sense of spaciousness which was identified by the Inspector as an 
important feature of the locality, and the character of the conservation area as a 
result.

10.12 The ground floor of the building is proposed to be retained as constructed, 2.6m 
longer than originally approved. Whilst this obviously now occupies a greater depth 
of garden and sits much closer to the rear boundary, it is noted that the height of 
these parts of the building is proposed to be reduced so that they would be only 2m 
to the eaves, with relatively shallow pitched/hipped roofs. Combined with the ground 
levels in this part of the site, which are lower than those of the adjacent playing 
fields and neighbouring garden, this reduction in height means that much of these 
sections of the building would be screened by a 2m high boundary treatment along 
the boundary between the building and the adjacent playing fields, with only a 
relatively small section of the higher rear hipped roof likely to be visible above this. It 
is therefore considered on balance therefore that the additional length of the 
building’s ground floor would not be readily discernible in views of the site from 
surrounding public viewpoints and from the school playing fields. In view of this, and 
the significant reductions proposed to the length of the first floor as discussed 
above, it is not considered on balance that the building as now proposed would 
have a significantly greater impact in terms of its size and massing than the building 
for which permission was granted in 2007, or that refusal of the application on this 
basis could now be substantiated. 

10.13 The acceptability of the current proposals relies heavily on the ability to screen the 
ground floor areas of the building from public views with a boundary treatment which 
is reflective of and appropriate to the character of the conservation area. To this 
end, the retention and survival of the hedging along the boundary between the 
building and the school playing fields is critical. As part of the application,
correspondence has been provided from a horticulturalist who confirms that he has 
planted a series of 2.5m-3m high privet plants within the area between the building 
and the school fields. Whilst noting the relatively small growing area available, he 
advises that the quality and size of the hedge plants provided, combined with a 
maintenance program of soil enrichment and selective pruning would allow this to 
become established to provide a degree of screening comparable to that of the 
existing privet hedge in the front part of the site within 2-3 years. Three trees (a 
mountain ash, white beam and flowering cherry), have also been planted within the 
site to supplement this screen planting. In the light of this, and subject to conditions 
requiring a detailed maintenance and management schedule for the hedge to 
ensure its ongoing survival and growth, and requiring the hedge to be retained at a 
height of no less than 2m, or replaced in the event that it dies, it is considered on 
balance that the proposals are acceptable in this respect. 

Page 21



10.14 Following extensive discussions with the conservation officer regarding the scheme, 
a number of changes to the design and materials of the building have been 
incorporated into the revised proposals. These include the replacement of the large 
UPVC windows with timber casements including glazing bars and mullions to more 
closely reflect the design and character of surrounding development, the 
introduction of timber doors, and the replacement of the concrete roof tiles with clay 
tiles to match the existing building. In the light of these changes and the reductions 
in the size of the building now proposed, the conservation officer has advised that 
the building as now proposed would retain an acceptable degree of subservience to 
the host property, and that its design would more appropriately reflect the character 
of surrounding development within the conservation area. On this basis, it is 
considered that the development as now proposed would, on balance, preserve the 
character and appearance of the conservation area, and that refusal of the 
application on these grounds could not be justified. Conditions relating to the roofing 
materials, the design, colour and materials of the windows and doors, and the 
blocking up of any openings with stone to match the existing annexe building, are 
recommended to ensure that these works are carried out using appropriate 
materials and to an acceptable standard. 

10.15 Whilst it is proposed to retain the basement, which was not part of the originally 
approved scheme, this area is not visible and has no impact on the character and 
appearance of the area, and on this basis it is not considered that refusal of this 
aspect of the proposals could be justified. 

10.16 Whilst the changes now proposed are considered to be acceptable and to result in a 
building which would not detract from the setting of the host building or the spacious 
character of the conservation area, it is noted that additional development could be 
carried out within the site under permitted development rights which, together with 
the building as now proposed, could result in an overdevelopment of the site or the 
erosion of this setting and character. It is therefore recommended that permitted 
development rights for any further extensions or outbuildings to the property are 
removed, to allow the implications of any further developments on the site to be fully 
considered by the local planning authority. 

Trees and landscaping
10.17 The tree most affected by the development is the purple-leafed sycamore 

immediately to the rear of the unauthorised building. The appeal Inspector 
considered that the tree ‘makes a positive contribution to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and deserves to be safeguarded’. Since the 
appeal decision, the tree in question and a number of others along the south 
western boundary of the site have been protected by a TPO.

10.18 With regard to the potential impact of the building on the roots of the sycamore tree, 
which a number of local residents have raised concerns about, the Inspector noted 
that a retaining wall and raised patio was built to the rear of the site, adjacent to the 
tree, in 2003, and that this was likely to have had an adverse impact on the trees 
roots, but that the tree was not showing any evident signs of distress as a result. In 
the light of this he concluded that it was difficult to conclude with any certainty that 
the more recent excavation works to construct the building would have caused 
material harm to the roots of the tree. It is not therefore considered that refusal of 
the application on this basis could be justified.

10.19 The Inspector did consider that the long term amenity value of the sycamore would 
be put at risk by its proximity to the appeal building. It is considered that this issue 
has been largely dealt with by the removal of a 3m length of the first floor, taking the 

Page 22



bulk of the first floor away from the canopy and making a blank gable to the tree and 
removing the ground floor kitchen window from the rear which directly faced the 
trunk. The Inspector considered that the building of the annex had not led to any 
visible signs of placing the tree at risk – the proposed changes would improve the 
present situation and whilst not ideal are not sufficient to continue to object on these
grounds. There would however be some ongoing annoyance and maintenance 
issues resulting from the fall of twigs, leaves and other debris from the tree onto the 
single storey roof, blocking gutters and downpipes, and from moss growth promoted 
by debris and shade but it is not considered these would be sufficient to claim that 
pressure would be placed to remove the tree and so the long term amenity value of 
the tree would be maintained within the local area.

Residential amenity
10.20 In view of the distance between windows in the building and neighbouring 

properties, no significant increase in overlooking of neighbouring properties is 
anticipated. In view of its orientation in relation to neighbouring dwellings and 
positioning to the rear of the neighbours’ garage to the rear, it is considered that it 
would not have such a significant impact in terms of overshadowing or have such an 
overbearing impact on neighbouring dwellings or their gardens as to justify refusal 
on these grounds. On balance therefore it is not considered that the building would 
be detrimental to the amenities of neighbouring residents.

10.21 Previous reasons for the refusal of the application based on the loss of amenity
space for the existing dwelling and the impact of the new building on the amenities
of the existing dwelling’s occupiers in terms of noise and disturbance were based on
the concern that the building could be used as a separate dwelling. However as the
Inspector at the public inquiry accepted that the building is an annex to the existing
building and should be considered as such, it is not considered that refusal of the
application on this basis could be justified, as all occupiers of the site would be from
the same family group. The applicants have submitted a unilateral undertaking as 
part of the current application restricting occupancy of the building to family 
members of the main dwelling, and subject to the completion/signing of this 
undertaking prior to the determination and its inclusion as part of the decision, the 
proposals are considered to be acceptable in this respect. 

Highway safety
10.22 Concerns have previously been raised regarding the level of parking available, the 

fact that the building no longer contains a garage, and the use of an area of 
hardstanding outside the site for parking by the applicants are noted. The highways 
officer has confirmed that the area of parking outside the site was not included in 
their consideration of the application in terms of assessing access to the site and the 
level of parking available. On the basis of the land included within the site, excluding 
this area, the highways officer has previously advised that as there are two 
accesses to the property they consider that there is more than sufficient off-street 
parking available, and that refusal of the application on these grounds could not be 
justified.

10.23 In terms of the laying out of the area of hardstanding outside the site, which is within
the adopted highway, it appears from aerial photographs dating back to 1999 that 
this area has been in existence for some time. Whilst the consent of the highway 
authority may have been required for these works, it is unlikely that planning 
permission would have been required for these works, since Old Park Road is not a 
classified road. The highways officer has not raised any concerns regarding the 
existence of this area or its use for parking, and therefore on this basis, and as there 

Page 23



is sufficient parking within the site without relying on this area, it was not considered 
expedient to pursue this matter further in this instance.

Equality and personal circumstances of the applicant
10.24 Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that ‘if 

regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to 
be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance 
with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise’. Whilst the personal 
circumstances of an applicant can be a material planning consideration, the view 
held by the Courts is that ‘such circumstances, when they arise, fall to be 
considered not as a general rule but as an exception to a general rule to be met in 
special cases’ and that such matters should only be given direct effect ‘as an 
exceptional or special circumstance’.

10.25 It is noted that the building in question has been constructed by the applicant to 
allow his extended family to live together as a family unit, in accordance with their 
religious and cultural beliefs. The local planning authority and the appeal Inspector 
agree that the religious and cultural needs of the applicant and his family are 
material planning considerations to be weighed in the balance in the determination 
of this application, together with other matters such as the impact of the 
development on the character and appearance of the conservation area and on the 
tree to the rear of the site, and specific consideration has been given to the cultural 
requirements of the applicant and their extended family. As discussed above, the 
changes which are now proposed to the building are considered, on balance, to 
address previous concerns regarding the impact of the development on the 
conservation area and the TPO tree to the rear, and the current proposals are now 
considered to represent a reasonable balance between providing accommodation 
for the applicant and their family and preserving the character and appearance of 
the conservation area.

Unilateral Undertaking
10.26 A draft unilateral undertaking is expected to be submitted by the applicant, which is 

intended to form part of the decision on the application and, if the application is 
approved, would legally restrict the occupancy of the annexe building solely to 
family members of the occupants of the main dwelling on the site. 

10.27 As part of the application, the applicant has provided a timetable which details the 
works which are required in order to change the building from its current 
construction and into compliance with the plans which have been submitted. This 
indicates that the works themselves would take a period of 28 weeks.

10.28 Legal advice has been sought as to how best to ensure that, if permission is granted 
for the revised scheme now proposed, the works to bring the unauthorised building 
in line with these proposals are carried out within a reasonable time period. In the 
light of this advice, it is suggested that the most appropriate means of securing the 
completion of these works would be through the incorporation of these timescales 
within the applicant’s unilateral undertaking, including timetables for the submission 
of details to discharge conditions and allowing for a period for these to be assessed 
and considered by the local planning authority. A condition covering this is also 
recommended, as detailed above. This suggestion has been relayed to the 
applicants, and an update in this respect will be provided to Members at the Plans 
Panel meeting. 

Page 24



11.0 CONCLUSION

11.1 On balance, and in the light of the above, it is considered that the changes which 
are now proposed to the unauthorised building would result in a building of an 
acceptable size, scale and massing, which would incorporate features and materials 
which are more appropriate to the character and appearance of the site, the 
streetscene and the surrounding area. It is therefore considered that, subject to the 
conditions recommended above and the completion of the unilateral undertaking 
before the decision is issued, the proposals are acceptable, and it is therefore 
recommended that the application is approved. 

Background Papers:
Application and history files 10/05711/FU, 09/03515/FU, 08/06852/FU, 07/00030/FU and 
06/05086/FU.
Certificate of Ownership: Signed by applicant.

Page 25



B
u
s
h

Kerb

O L
 D

   
P A

 R
 K

   
R O

 A
 D

Kerb

K
e
rb

G
ra

s
s
 v

e
rg

e

L
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
d
 L

a
w

n

P
a
v
e
d
 d

ri
v
e
w

a
y

P
a
v
e
d
 d

ri
v
e
w

a
y

P
a
v
in

g

P
a
v
in

g

P
a
v
in

g

P
a
v
in

g

P
a
v
in

g

P
a
v
e
d
 D

ri
v
e
w

a
y

M
e
ta

l p
o
st

 &
 r
a
il 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 f
e
n
ce

M
e
ta

l p
o
st

 &
 r
a
il 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 f
e
n
ce

M
eta

l p
ost 

& ra
il f

ence
Exis

tin
g H

edge

Sto
ne w

all

Sto
ne w

all

Pavin
g

P
a
vi

n
g

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

M
e
ta

l p
o
st

 &
 r
a
il 

fe
n
ce

H
e
d
g
e

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll H
e
d
g
e

H
e
d
g
e

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

G
a
rd

e
n

Sto
ne w

all
Tarm

ac 
fo

otp
ath

P
a
v
in

g

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

P
a
vi

n
g

P
a
vi

n
g

Pavin
g

• ••
• ••

•• ••
• •• ••

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

Tarm
ac f

ootp
ath

Tarm
ac f

ootp
ath

T
a
rm

a
c

(C
a
r 

p
a
rk

in
g
)

Dro
pped K

erb

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

H
e
d
g
e

H
e
d
g
e

H
e
d
g
e

P
la

n
ti
n
g

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

P
o
n
d

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

S
to

n
e
 w

a
ll

G
ate

G
ate

Exis
tin

g tr
ee c

anopy

G
ra

s
s
 v

e
rg

e

G
ra

s
s
 v

e
rg

e

R
e
in

st
a
te

d
 H

e
d
g
e

M
et

al
 p

os
t &

 r
ai

l f
en

ce
 &

 r
ei

ns
ta

te
d 

he
dg

e
F
or

m
er

 3
.0

m
 h

ig
h 

bo
un

da
ry

 h
ed

ge
 r
ei

ns
ta

te
dF
o

rm
e

r 
h

e
d

g
e

 r
e

in
s
ta

te
d

 b
e

h
in

d
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 p

o
s
t

a
n

d
 r

a
il 

b
o

u
n

d
a

ry
 f

e
n

c
e

, 
n

e
w

 h
e

d
g

e
 t

o
 b

e

g
ro

w
n

 t
o

 a
 h

e
ig

h
t 

to
 m

a
tc

h
 t

h
e

 a
d
ja

c
e

n
t

e
x
is

ti
n

g
 h

e
d

g
e

 (
a

p
p

ro
x
. 

3
.0

m
 h

ig
h

).

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 s

to
n

e
 w

a
ll 

h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 r

e
-a

lig
n

e
d

to
 p

ro
v
id

e
 m

in
im

u
m

 6
5

0
m

m
 w

id
e

p
la

n
ti
n

g
 s

tr
ip

 (
n

o
rt

h
 w

e
s
t 

s
id

e
) 

fo
r

fo
rm

e
r 

b
o

u
n

d
a

ry
 h

e
d

g
e

 t
o

 b
e

 r
e

in
s
ta

te
d

.

R
e
in

st
a
te

d
 H

e
d
g
e

S
u

rf
a

c
e

 w
a

te
r 

fr
o

m
 m

a
in

 r
o

o
f 

to
 b

e
 d

is
c
h

a
rg

e
d

th
ro

u
g

h
 a

 p
e

rf
o

ra
te

d
 p

ip
e

, 
b

u
ri
e

d

a
p

p
ro

x
im

a
te

ly
 1

5
0

m
m

 -
 2

0
0

m
m

 b
e

lo
w

 t
h

e

s
u

rf
a

c
e

 o
f 

th
e

 b
e

d
.

1000

F
e
a
tu

re

Page 26



NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
© Crown copyright and database rights 2011 Ordnance Survey 100019567 SCALE : 1/1500

12/01597/FU

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Chief Planning Officer

PLANS PANEL NORTH AND EAST

Date: 29th November 2012

Subject: Application 12/03841/FU – Detached bungalow to side garden plot at 7 
Brookside, Alwoodley, LS17 8TD

APPLICANT DATE VALID TARGET DATE
Mr R Marshall 7th September 2012 2nd November 2012

RECOMMENDATION:

REFUSE for the following reason:

The proposals, by reason of the size, scale and design of the proposed dwelling, including 
hardstanding, and the loss of mature landscaping within the site, would fail to reflect the 
character and pattern of surrounding development and would result in the loss of a mature 
garden area which is considered to be a positive feature within the context of this established 
residential area. The proposed development is therefore considered to be of significant 
detriment to the character and appearance of the area, contrary to policies GP5, N12, N13 
and BD5 of the Leeds Unitary Development Plan Review 2006 and the guidance in 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 13 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 A number of applications for the development of a dwelling on this site have been 
refused, including a refusal by Plans Panel (East) in May 2008 on the grounds that 
the proposed dwelling’s size and scale, together with the loss of mature landscaping 
from the site, would be detrimental to the character and appearance of the area. A 
subsequent application for a similar scheme was refused in 2010 for the same 
reason, and also because the plans submitted at the time were inaccurate and on 

Specific Implications For:

Equality and Diversity

Community Cohesion

Narrowing the Gap

Electoral Wards Affected:

Alwoodley

Originator: Jillian Rann

Tel: 0113 222 4409

Ward Members consulted
(referred to in report)

Yes

Agenda Item 8

Page 29



the basis of the submitted details it appeared that the dwelling would result in the 
loss of the boundary hedge and lack of scope for its replacement, causing
overlooking of the occupants of the neighbouring property, number 3. 

1.2 Councillor Buckley has requested that the current application be reported to Plans 
Panel if officers were minded to approve, however on the basis of the site’s history 
and Panel’s previous resolution, it was considered appropriate to report the
recommendation to refuse permission back to Plans Panel in this instance.  

2.0 PROPOSAL:

2.1 Full permission is sought for a detached three bedroom dwelling within the side 
garden of an existing property, 7 Brookside. The proposed dwelling would be of a 
dormer bungalow design with two bedrooms in the roofspace – one served by a 
pitched roof dormer to the front and one by a rooflight to the rear – and a third 
bedroom on the ground floor. Excavations are proposed in the southern part of the 
site to provide an integral basement garage, driveway and vehicular turning area 
with retaining walls proposed between the drive and the hedge which runs along the 
site’s western boundary with the neighbouring property, 3 Brookside. The proposed 
dwelling would be constructed of stone with a tiled roof to match the existing 
bungalow on the site. 

2.2 A new access to serve the proposed dwelling is proposed in the corner of the cul-
de-sac on which the site is located, with the existing access to be retained to serve 
the existing property. It is proposed to retain the hedge along the boundary with 
number 3, together with a number of mature trees around the edges of the site. The 
creation of the access would involve the removal of a willow tree, however 
replacement planting is proposed to compensate for this. 

2.3 Since the refusal of the previous application, the proposals have been revised to 
correct previous inaccuracies on the plans, providing more detailed clarification 
regarding the separation distances between the proposed building and the western 
boundary hedge, and to step the rear part of the building’s western elevation further 
away from the hedge. 

3.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

3.1 The application site forms part of the side garden of number 7 Brookside, a large, 
stone fronted detached bungalow situated in the north eastern corner of this 
residential cul-de-sac. The garden area at present contains a number of mature 
trees, and the boundaries with neighbouring properties are made up of hedges of 
varying heights. There is also a large off-site sycamore tree close to the north 
western corner of the site, within the garden of a neighbouring property. 

3.2 A dwelling has previously existed on part of the site, between numbers 3 and 7, but 
was demolished in the late 1970s. It is understood that, following the demolition of 
this dwelling, the land on which it stood was divided between these two properties. 

3.3 Other properties on Brookside, to the west and south of the site are of a similar age 
and materials to number 7, but vary in their design, making up a streetscene which 
includes bungalows, dormer bungalows and two storey houses. There are detached 
houses to the north and east of varying designs and ages. 

Page 30



4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

4.1 The first application proposing a detached dwelling house on this area of garden 
was refused in September 2007 for reasons relating to the impact on visual amenity, 
residential amenity and highway safety (reference 07/02338/FU).

4.2 A subsequent application (08/00459/FU), incorporating a number of changes to the 
proposals, was refused in July 2008 following a Plans Panel resolution in May 2008 
to refuse permission for the following reason:

The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposed development, by reason 
of the amount of development in relation to the size of the plot, the size and scale of 
the proposed dwelling, including hardstanding, and the loss of mature landscaping 
within the site, would have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of 
the area, contrary to Policies N13 and BD5 of the Leeds Unitary Development Plan 
Review (2006) and the guidance set out within Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
'Neighbourhoods for Living' and Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing (PPS3).

4.3 Following the withdrawal of a further application in June 2009 (09/01549/FU) as a 
result of concerns regarding its impact on the character and appearance of the area, 
permission was once more refused for a dwelling on the site in October 2010
(reference 10/03845/FU) for the following reasons:

1. The submitted details contain various inaccuracies and inconsistencies and are 
insufficient to allow an appropriate and accurate assessment of what is 
proposed. As such the applicant has failed to demonstrate that the proposed 
dwelling can be accommodated on the site without causing harm to the character 
and amenities of the area or neighbouring residents, or that the existing 
boundary planting can be retained. The proposal is therefore considered to be 
contrary to policies GP5, N12, N13, BD5 and LD1 of the Leeds Unitary 
Development Plan (Review) 2006 and the guidance in SPG13 and BS5837: 
Trees in Relation to Construction.

2. On the basis of the submitted information, it is considered that the proposed 
development, by reason of the amount of development in relation to the size of 
the plot, the size, scale and design of the proposed dwelling, including 
hardstanding, and the loss of mature landscaping within the site, would fail to 
reflect the character of other properties in the streetscene and would detract from 
the visual amenities of the area, contrary to Policies GP5, N12, N13 and BD5 of 
the Leeds Unitary Development Plan Review (2006) and the guidance set out 
within Supplementary Planning Guidance 13, PPS1 and PPS3. 

3. On the basis of the details submitted, it is considered that the proposed 
development, by virtue of the proximity of the study window in the western 
elevation of the proposed dwelling to the western boundary hedge, which falls 
below the recommended distances in Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
13, and the height of this window and the internal finished floor levels above the 
adjacent ground level, would result in an increase in overlooking of the 
neighbouring property, 3 Brookside, and its garden. The lack of detail and 
inconsistencies on the submitted plans makes it difficult to fully assess whether 
the development would impact on the health or survival of the western boundary 
hedge, however on the basis of the information submitted, it is considered that 
there is potential that the hedge could be lost. In this event, and in view of the 
possible lack of scope for an appropriate replacement boundary treatment in this 
position, it is considered that the proposed development would result in an 

Page 31



unacceptable level of overlooking of the neighbouring property and its garden to 
the detriment of the amenities of neighbouring residents, contrary to Policies 
GP5 and BD5 of the Leeds Unitary Development Plan Review (2006) and the 
guidance set out within SPG 13.

5.0 HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:

5.1 As there have been a number of previous applications for a detached dwelling on 
this site, all of which have been refused or withdrawn, the applicant has been 
advised that a further application is unlikely to be supported, but has submitted the 
current application to correct inaccuracies on the plans which were previously 
refused, and to try and overcome previous concerns and reasons for refusal which 
were raised as a result of these inaccuracies. 

5.2 Revised plans have been received during the course of the application which correct 
some remaining inconsistencies, and step the rear part of the building’s western 
elevation further from the western boundary in response to neighbours’ concerns
regarding the impact on their hedge. The drive width has also been increased to 
3.3m in response to comments received from the highways officer. 

6.0 PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:

Ward Members
6.1 Councillor Buckley has objected to the proposals on the following grounds:

The development would result in the destruction neighbours’ garden at 3 
Brookside, including their mature trees. An expert arborist will confirm this.

Parking and turning problems would be created in the narrow cul-de-sac

Loss of amenity

The proposals for the site are out of keeping for the area

It is understood that the size of the 2 storey house (not bungalow as described) 
contravenes an existing covenant on the minimum amount of square footage 
permitted.

Previous attempts to develop this plot have all been refused

6.2 Councillor Buckley also requests that officers refer the application to Plans Panel if 
minded to approve, although as discussed above, in the light of the history of the 
site, it was considered appropriate for the application to be reported to Panel rather 
than determined under delegated powers in this instance. 

Harewood Parish Council
6.3 Object to this application on the grounds that the original boundaries to no. 5 no 

longer exist, therefore the area left for this new property is small and 
disproportionate to surrounding plots. Also vehicular access would be limited.

6.4 It is understood from the applicant that a meeting has subsequently been held on 
site with representatives from the Parish Council to discuss the proposals, however 
no further comments from the Parish Council have been received.

Other public response
6.5 The application has been advertised by site notice, posted 21st September 2012,

and by neighbour notification letter. 6 letters of objection have been received, raising 
the following concerns:

Page 32



Design, layout and size of bungalow would be out of keeping with others in 
the street. 

Proposed dwelling is not only smaller than all other surrounding dwellings, 
and therefore out of character, but is much closer to boundaries and fails to 
reflect spacious setting of other properties on the cul-de-sac. 

Underground garage not reflective of others in the street. 

Proposed building now larger than previously, and the need to situate the 
building so close to the boundaries in order to avoid the Yorkshire Water 
easement crossing the site would result in a cramped development. 

Garden area too small. 

Building proposed is not a bungalow as described, as it has rooms on the first 
floor. Misleading in terms of describing the impact of the building. 

Hedge along boundary with 3 Brookside would be damaged by the 
development. Width of hedge not shown accurately on the drawings. 
Proximity of building to the hedge will lead to root severance during 
construction and the loss of the hedge, which is an important screen and of 
visual importance at present. 

Impact on trees and hedges of property to north. 

Has the applicant provided a tree survey as part of the application?

Removal of willow tree at site entrance would deprive the cul-de-sac of its 
most attractive feature. 

Does not appear that vehicles would be able to turn within the site. Vehicles 
having to reverse from the site would be dangerous. 

Additional traffic, particularly during construction, would lead to additional 
parking on street in an area where on-street parking already creates 
obstructions to neighbouring properties. 

Potential for underground garage to flood – implications for ability of 
neighbours to get insurance. 

Noise, dust and dirt during construction. 

Inaccuracies on submitted plans in terms of size of site.

Submitted details advise that there was previously a dwelling on the site, but 
this earlier dwelling was situated more on the area of land now belonging to 
number 3, not the application site. 

Concern that a further application has been submitted, despite four previous 
refused/withdrawn applications. No significant changes to proposals.

Impact on property values. 

6.6 The applicant has written a letter responding to the concerns raised, raising the 
following points:

There are a variety of property types and designs within the streetscene.

Proposed building would not easily visible within the street.

Property is a dormer bungalow, with rooms in the roofspace, not a 2 storey 
house.

Drawings have been revised to address concerns regarding the proximity of 
the building to the boundary. 

Highways have previously confirmed that the proposals are acceptable –
developers will ensure no construction traffic obstructs neighbouring 
properties.

Property is far enough from the hedge that it would not cause damage. 
Hedge will be protected during construction. 

Majority of pre-existing property on the site was within the grounds of number 
7, not number 3. 

Page 33



Would appreciate a site visit by Members of Plans Panel, as the proposed 
dwelling is ‘pegged out’ to accurately show on site where it would be located.

6.7 One letter of support has been received from a neighbouring property on High Ash 
Avenue to the east of the site, advising that they support the proposals because 
most of the site has been untended for some time, but suggest that some of the 
birch trees that border the site are trimmed down as they are now higher than most 
of the other trees and block a significant amount of light from the neighbouring 
property.

7.0 CONSULTATIONS RESPONSES:

Statutory
7.1 None.

Non-statutory
Highways

7.2 No objections subject to widening of drive width to 3.3m [revised plans have been 
received in this respect] and drive gradient no greater than 1 in 12.5 (8%). 

Flood Risk Management
7.3 No objections – drainage requirements can be adequately dealt with through the 

Building Regulations. 

Contaminated Land
7.4 No objections, subject to conditions. 

8.0 PLANNING POLICIES:

Development Plan
8.1 The development plan includes the Regional Spatial Strategy to 2026 (RSS) and the

adopted Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006) (UDP). The RSS was 
issued in May 2008 and includes a broad development strategy for the region, 
setting out regional priorities in terms of the location and scale of development. In 
view of the relatively small scale of this proposal, it is not considered that there are 
any particular policies which are relevant to the consideration of this application.

8.2 The Publication Draft of the Core Strategy was issued for public consultation on 28th

February 2012 with the consultation period closing on 12th April 2012. Following 
consideration of any representations received, the Council intends to submit the 
draft Core Strategy for examination. The Core Strategy sets out strategic level 
policies and vision to guide the delivery of development investment decisions and 
the overall future of the district. As the Core Strategy is in its pre submission stages 
only limited weight can be afforded to any relevant policies at this point in time.

8.3 The site is unallocated in the UDP. The following UDP policies are relevant to the
consideration of the application:

GP5 – General planning considerations.
H4 – New residential development. 
N12 – Urban design.
N13 – Design of new buildings.
BD5 – New buildings and amenity. 
T2 – New development and highway safety.
LD1 – Landscaping.

Page 34



Relevant supplementary guidance/documents (SPGs/SPDs)
8.4 SPG13 – Neighbourhoods for Living: A Guide for Residential Design in Leeds

Street Design Guide SPD

National Planning Policy
8.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 27th March 2012 

and replaces previous Planning Policy Guidance/Statements in setting out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be 
applied. One of the key principles at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in 
favour of Sustainable Development.

9.0 MAIN ISSUES

1. Principle of development
2. Impact on the character of the area
3. Trees and landscaping
4. Residential amenity
5. Highways
6. Other issues

10.0 APPRAISAL

Principle of development
10.1 The site is within an existing residential area of Alwoodley, just outside the Leeds

Ring Road and close to the A61, and is in a reasonably sustainable location. As the 
site is a residential garden it does not fall within the definition of ‘previously 
developed land’ in the NPPF. Whilst the classification of garden sites as ‘greenfield’, 
does not specifically rule out their development in principle, it allows the local 
planning authority a greater degree of control over developments which would result 
in the loss of residential gardens which can form an important part of the character 
of an area. In assessing such applications therefore, careful consideration needs to 
be given to the prevailing character of the area and to any impact that the proposed 
development would have on this.

10.2 Whilst it is noted that a dwelling has previously occupied part of the corner of this 
cul-de-sac, this is understood to have been demolished over 30 years ago. The land 
on which it formerly stood has subsequently been subdivided and its character has 
changed over this period to become part of the mature and established garden 
areas to either side. In view of the considerable period of time which has elapsed 
since its demolition and the subsequent change in the character and nature of this 
land over this time, it is considered that little weight can be attached to the existence 
of this former dwelling in the determination of the current application. The proposals 
therefore have to be considered on their own merits and taking into account the 
impact of the development on the character of the area as it exists today, not as it 
did over 30 years ago. It is on this basis that the proposals have been considered. 

Impact on the character of the area
10.3 Brookside is a cul-de-sac which, whilst having some variety in the design of its 

houses, is characterised by large dwellings in relatively substantial plots. In contrast 
the proposed development, a compact dormer bungalow on a small corner site,
would be considerably smaller in terms of its scale than any other property in the 
streetscene and is not considered to reflect the prevailing character of the area in 
this respect.

Page 35



10.4 Whilst it is noted that a dwelling formerly stood within the area between 3 and 7 
Brookside, this was on a site which was larger and contained a dwelling of a size 
more reflective of the character and setting of surrounding properties, having been 
built as part of the same development. The subsequent subdivision of the site 
following the property’s demolition means that the application site is now a smaller 
area of land which is restricted to the corner of the cul-de-sac rather than having a 
street frontage, thereby restricting its presence within the streetscene. This, together 
with the need to retain an easement for the sewer which crosses the site, 
significantly constrains the size and position of the proposed dwelling, meaning that 
it is positioned close to the side and rear boundaries, with its principal elevation 
facing the side elevation of the existing property, 7 Brookside, rather than being 
oriented to address the streetscene as other properties in the cul-de-sac do. The 
proposals would therefore appear cramped within the site and would fail to appear 
as an integral part of the streetscene, disrupting this existing pattern of 
development.

10.5 Previous reasons for refusal have referred to the loss of mature landscaping within 
the site. As noted above, the character of the site has changed considerably over 
the past 30+ years since the previous dwelling was demolished, and it has evolved 
to form mature garden areas as part of the properties to either side, which are now 
integral to the established character of the streetscene. Whilst relatively overgrown 
at present, this and the neighbouring garden are considered to be positive features 
within the wider character of this mature residential area, with their mature trees, 
hedges and landscaping providing a visual break between other developments in 
the streetscene. Whilst the proposal to replace the willow tree on the site frontage 
with new planting and to retain hedges around the site are noted, and that these 
would provide some screening of the proposed development, the removal of other 
trees and planting from within the site is an inevitable consequence of the 
development, and elements of the building would still be evident in public views of 
the site. Guidance in the NPPF specifically excludes residential gardens from the 
definition of previously developed land in recognition of the positive role that such 
sites can play as part of the established character of mature residential areas. In this 
instance, it is considered that the site is a positive element of the streetscene and 
that the loss of this open area and its development with a new dwelling which, as 
identified above, would extend close to the boundaries and appear cramped within 
the site, would be of significant detriment to the character of the streetscene and the 
wider area as a result. 

10.6 In the light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development, by virtue of 
its size, scale, design and layout, would fail to reflect the character of other 
properties in the streetscene and would detract from the visual amenities of the 
area, contrary to policies GP5, N12, N13 and BD5 of the UDP and the guidance in 
SPG13 and the NPPF. 

Trees and landscaping
10.7 One of the reasons for the refusal of the previous application for a dwelling on the 

site, in 2010, related to the lack of information regarding the relationship between 
the proposed dwelling and the hedge to the west, between the site and the adjacent 
property at number 3, and to a number of inaccuracies and inconsistencies between 
the submitted plans in this respect. The plans submitted with the current application 
have now been revised to correct these inconsistencies and to show the correct 
position of the proposed dwelling in relation to this hedge.

10.8 According to the submitted plans, at its closest point, the proposed dwelling would 
be 2.2m from the centre line of the western boundary hedge, and around 1.9m from 

Page 36



the hedge itself. The proposals have been revised during the course of the 
application to step the rear part of the proposed building closest to the hedge further 
away from the boundary. The landscape officer has advised that whilst relatively 
close to this boundary hedge, in view of the size and type of hedging along this 
boundary, there would be sufficient space for the excavation works to be carried out 
in this part of the site without significant damage to the hedge and its root system, 
and that in his view refusal of the application on this basis could not, on balance, be 
justified, subject to appropriate protection of this hedge being installed prior to the 
commencement of works on the site. 

10.9 Concerns have previously been raised regarding the relationship between the rear 
elevation of the western part of the building and the off-site tree within the 
neighbouring garden to the north, and this part of the building has been stepped 
further from the rear boundary to provide a greater degree of separation from this 
tree. Whilst the proposals do include a window in the rear elevation of the building 
facing onto this tree, this would serve a utility room and in view of the non-habitable 
nature of this space and the separation between this area and the tree, the 
landscape officer has advised that this is unlikely to result in significant concerns 
regarding the tree’s impact on light and outlook from this north-facing room and 
subsequent pressure for the tree to be cut back or removed as a result. On this 
basis, it is not therefore considered that refusal of the application on these grounds 
could be justified, provided that the root system of this tree was adequately fenced 
off and protected during any construction works.

Residential amenity
10.10 The previous application for a dwelling on the site in 2010 was refused partly on the 

grounds that the information provided was insufficient to demonstrate that the hedge 
along the western boundary with number 3 could be retained, and that the loss of 
this hedge, and therefore the screening it provides, together with the positioning of a 
study window in the elevation of the building facing this neighbouring garden, would 
detract significantly from the privacy and amenities of these neighbouring residents. 

10.11 The current application has subsequently been revised to correct the inaccuracies 
and inconsistencies on the previous plans and correctly show the relationship 
between the building and the hedge. An en-suite bathroom window is proposed in 
the part of the building closest to this boundary, 2.5m from the boundary and around 
20m from the neighbouring house itself, and a study window is proposed in the rear 
part of this western elevation, which is set slightly further from the boundary (3.2m 
from the boundary and around 21m from the neighbouring dwelling). As discussed 
above, the landscape officer has now advised that on the basis of the submitted 
details, he considers that the hedge could be retained, and in the light of this and 
the separation distances between the proposed windows and the boundary and the 
fact that conditions could be attached to require these windows to be obscure 
glazed, it is not considered on balance that the revised proposals would result in a 
significant increase in the degree of overlooking of this neighbouring property or that 
refusal of the application on this basis could be justified. In the event that permission 
were to be granted, conditions requiring these windows to be obscure glazed and 
the boundary hedge to be retained, protected during works and replaced in the 
event that it were to die would be recommended. 

10.12 In view of the distance between the proposed dwelling and neighbouring properties, 
together with its 1½ storey dormer bungalow design, with relatively low eaves levels, 
it is not considered that the proposed development would result in a significant 
increase in overlooking, overshadowing or overdominance of any neighbouring 
properties or that refusal of the application on these grounds could be justified. 

Page 37



10.13 Concerns regarding the relatively small size of the proposed dwelling’s garden area 
are noted, however on the basis that the garden area retained would be in excess of 
the 2/3 floorspace recommended in Neighbourhoods for Living, the proposals are 
considered to be acceptable in this respect. 

Highways
10.14 Neighbours’ concerns regarding increases in traffic and on-street parking as a result

of the proposed development are noted. The proposed development would provide 
parking for two cars within the site, together with additional parking space on the 
drive, and in the light of this and the revisions to increase the drive width to 3.3m in 
line with their advice, the highways officer has raised no objections to the proposals 
and therefore it is not considered that refusal on this basis could be justified.

10.15 On the basis of the submitted plans, the gradient between the site entrance and the 
proposed basement garage would be around 1 in 10.5 (9.5%). Although highways 
guidance generally recommends a maximum gradient of 8% (1 in 12.5) for new 
development, the highways officer has advised that on the basis of the relatively 
small scale of the proposed development, as a single dwelling, they do not consider 
that a refusal of the application on this basis could be substantiated. 

10.16 Concerns have been raised regarding additional traffic and on-street parking during 
construction. As the proposed development is small in scale and any period of 
construction is therefore likely to be relatively short-lived, it is considered that this 
could be satisfactorily addressed through the imposition of a condition requiring 
details of provision for contractors during construction, to ensure that this was 
managed to prevent disturbance and obstruction to neighbouring properties. 

Other issues
10.17 Concerns have been raised regarding the potential for flooding of the basement 

garage and neighbouring properties as a result of the excavation works proposed to 
create this area. The Council’s Flood Risk Management section have raised no 
concerns in this respect in response to this or the previous scheme proposing a 
basement garage, and on this basis it is not considered that refusal of the 
application on these grounds could be justified. 

10.18 In response to concerns regarding inaccuracies and inconsistencies on the plans as 
originally submitted, revised plans have now been received to address these. 

10.19 Concerns regarding the impact of the proposed development on property values are 
not material planning considerations and therefore can be given little weight in the 
determination of the application. 

11.0 CONCLUSION

11.1 In the light of the above, it is considered that the proposals would fail to reflect the 
character of surrounding development in terms of its size and its position and 
orientation within the streetscene, and would therefore disrupt the character and 
pattern of the streetscene, to the detriment of the visual amenities of the area. It is 
therefore recommended that the application is refused. 

Background Papers:
Application and history files 10/03845/FU, 09/01549/FU, 08/00459/FU, 07/02338/FU.
Certificate of Ownership: Signed by applicant.

Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
© Crown copyright and database rights 2011 Ordnance Survey 100019567 °SCALE : 1/1500

12/03841/FU

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	site visit letter
	6 Minutes
	7 Application 12/01597/FU - 11 Old Park Road Gledhow LS8
	8 Application 12/03841/FU - Land adjacent 7 Brookside Alwoodley LS17

